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f RoIIIrt D. Z~mwtltl ~ ~ 
JUN 28 1978 


SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 


SHIRLEY ANN FAESSEL, 


Plaintiff, 


"s. 
JOHN L. FAESSEL, et al., 


Defendants. 


) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


-----------------------) 


No. 414296 


MEMOP~DUM OPINION 


This matter carne on for hearing on May 24, 1978, in Departmen 


3 of t:he Superior Court, the Family Law and Motion Department, on 


petitioner's order to show cause, both parties being present; 


petitioner Shirley M. Faessel being represented by her attorney, 


Michael A. Clark, and respondent represented by his attorney, Thomas 


Ash\'<lorth III. 


At the hearing, declarations of the parties and attorneys 


were submitted and filed with the Court. In addition thereto, points 


and authorities were filed on behalf of both parties. 


Follow~ng oral argument the matter was taken under sub-


miss10n by the Court to determine the issue of whether or not the 
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Court has jurisdiction to grant to pet~tioner a pendente lite order 


for temporary support . Petitioner has heretofore prior to this 


hearing filed a complaint seeking relief re breach of contract, 


specific performance , quasi-contract, etc . (numerous other actions 


other than a cause of action under the Family Law Act). Respondent 


at the time of this hearing has not filed an answer to the afore­


mentioned complaint. 


Petitioner alleges that the petitioner and respondent have 


lived together as husband and wife for approximate y six years and 


that there is an agreement for the division of assets acquired during 


said relationship. 


Respondent admits livinq with petitioner for six years but 


denies any agreement re the division of assets and further alleges 


that lIe informed the petitioner that he was disillusioned in the 


status of matrimony. 


Petitioner and respondent never participated in a marriage 


ceremony of any kind nor were any children born to or during said 


relat onship. 


The issue to be resolved 1S whether the Court has jurisdic-


tion 1:0 award temporary support to one party of a meretricious or 


non. a rital relationship, pending the judgment and outcome of a law­


suit, in the absence of an agreement and/or absence of a marriage 


ceremony and/or the absence of children born to said relationship. 


As of this date the Court is unaware of any appellate 


decis ~ons on said issue; however, several trial courts have considered 


the same and their decisions are in conflict . 
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In 1976 the Supreme Court of this State decided the case of 


~~rvin v. Marvin, 18 Cal.3d D60, wherein the property rights of 


parties to a meretricious or nonmarital relationship were con­


sidered and defined. 


At the time of the Marvin decision, the appellate courts 


were in conflict as to whether Qr not such a person had a right to 


interest in property acqulred during such a relationship. One line 


of cases such as In re Cary, 34 Cal.App.3d 345 decided in 1973, held 


the Family Law Act (Code of Civil Procedure 4000) was applicable to 


custody of children born to a couple who lived in a nonmarital rela­


tionship without the benefit of matrimony, and said case further 


required an equal division of property acquired by said couple during 


said relationship. The Estate of Atherley, 44 Cal. App. 3d 758 (1975), 


followed the ruling of Cary in theory and rationale. 


On the other hand, another district court of appeal decided 


Beckman v. Mayhew., 49 Cal.App.3d 529 (1975), and refused to follow 


Cary Clnd Atherley and held that such a spouse could not recover any 


of the assets acquired during the nonmarital or meretricious relation­


ship, except in the case of an express agreement to pool funds, or 


in the absence of an agreement that said spouse contributed funds 


toward the acquiring of said property. The Mayhew case followed the 


lead of the earlier cases of Vallera v. Vallera, 21 Cal.2d 681 (1943); 


and Keene v. Keene, 57 Cal.2d 657 (1962). It must be noted that 


none of the foregoing cases decided dealt directly with the issue of 


whether or not the court had jurisdiction in such cases to award a 


pendehte lite order for temporary support. The Marvin case disapproved 
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and n~jected the reasoning set forth in Cary and held that the 


Family Law Act did not apply to a meretricious or a nonmarital rela-


tionship. 


"No language in the Family Law Act addresses the 
property rights of nonmarital partners, and nothing 
in the legislative history of the act suggests that 
the Legislature considered that subject. The deline­
ation of the rights of nonmarital partners before 1970 
had been fixed entirely by judicial decision; we see 
no reason to believe that the Legislature, by enacting 
the Family Law Act, intended to change that 3tate of 
affairs. " Marvin, supra at p. 68l. 


However, Marvin did not recognize that if a party to such a 


relat:.onship does have certain riqhts, they may be protected, and 


then 'fore rejected the views of Vallera and Keene and Mayhew. 


"We conclude that the judicial barriers that may stand 
in the way of a policy based upon the fulfillment of 
the reasonable expectations of the parties to a non­
marital relationship should be removed." Marvin, 
supra at p. 684. 


Marvin did not decide the issue of temporary support, but did mention 


same i n a footnote . 


"We do not pass upon the question whether , in the 
absence of an express or implied contractual obli­
gation, a party to a nonmarital relationship is 
entitled to support payments from the other party 
after the relationship terminates . " Marvin , supra 
at p. 685 , fn. 26. 


Civil Code Section 4359 (part of the Family Law Act) provides: 


"Durlng the pendency of any proceeding under Title 2 
(commencing with Section 4400) or Title 3 (commencing 
with Section 4500) of this part, upon application of 
either party in the manner provided by Section 527 
of the Code of civil Procedure, the superior court may 
issue ex parte orders (1) restraining any person from 
transferring, encumbering, hypothecating, concealing, 
or in any way disposing of any property real or 
personal, whether community, quasi-community, or sepa­
rate, except in the usual course of business or for the 
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necessities of life, and if such order is directed 
against a party, requiring him to notify the other 
party of any proposed extraordinary expenditures 
and to account to the court for all such extraordinary 
expenditures; (2) enjoining any party from molesting 
or disturbing the peace of the other party or any 
person under the care, custody, or control of the 
other party; (3) excluding either party from the fam­
ily dwelling or from the dwelling of the other upon a 
showing that physical or emotional harm would other­
wise result, as provided in Section 5102; and (4) deter­
mining the temporary custody of any minor children of 
the marriage." 


The cause of action of the petitioner is based on contract 


and other CiVl1 cause of action and not on an allegation of marriage 


nor child support nor child custody. 


The rights of the parties to a lawsuit are not determined 


by thE! face of the pleadings which are filed in said action, but 


rathtu' by the relief granted pursuant to a judgment which comes 


after a hearing on the merits generally. See Code of Civil Procedure 


Sect i on 577: 


itA judgment is the final determination of the rights 
of the partles in an actlon or proceeding." 


This Court, in light of MarVln v. Marvin, holds that the 


Family Law Act is not applicable in the case at bar. 


If the Court were to grant petitioner's motio.1 fOL temporary 


support, it would be taking respondent's property without due process 


of law and in essence respondent would be faced with paying over his 


property without a decislon on the merits of this lawsuit. 


Example: Suppose, as in this case, the Court were 
to grant petitl0ner's motion for temporary support 
pendente lite based merely on the pleadings and 
declarations filed herein, prior to a determination 
on the merits of petitioner's claim. Then, after 
the trial, the CVUL~ should find on behalf of respon­
dent, i.e., no agree~ent, and that respondent was 
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entitled to retain all of said property as his 
separate property, the Court would have granted 
to petj. tioner respondent's property without a 
prior decision in said suit. 


Such a result would be that respondent would have paid over 


his p~operty to petitioner before due process and/or trial of the 


matter on its merits. 


For the foregoing reasons, the Court finds that it is without 


jurisdiction in such a case as the one at bar to grant petitloner any 


orde rs for temporary support and said matter is transferred to the 


Civil Law and Motion Department of this Court. 


Dated: June tY I 1978. 


l .. I 


Judge of the Superlor Court 
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Wife By Pact 
Fails In _ Suit 
For Support 


By BILL OTJ' 
SNIt Wrttw.,.... ... DMIII' u... 


Six years ago, Shirley and Jolin 
began living together as husband 
and wUe, but withoUt actually being 
married. 


It was all under terms of an oral 
agreement In which the couple a1. 
Iegedly consented to project them­
selves to the community, frlends, 
business associates and relaUves as 
Jolin L. and SbIrIey Ann Faesse1, 
with Shirley agreeing to take the last 
name of Faesselln the relationship. 


Faessel Is a dentist and owner of 
two dlnlcs here. 


On March 28, the relationship fell 
apart. 


ShIrley - who claims she was 
forced out of the home at 1830 
Mlmulus Way, La Jolla - rued suit 
In Superior Court for temporary 1Up­
port pending a setUement of commu­
nity property. 


But Judge Earl B. Gilliam yester­
day decIJned to grant temporary 
support pending • trial, saytog the 
reJaUonsblp between SbIrIey and 
John did not rail within the slale's 
Family Law Act, under wblch such 
support can be granted pending 
property settlemenL 


Gilliam did, however, transfer the 
dispute to the court's dvil depart­
ment. where It Is now beaded for 
trial as a breach of cootract sult for 
damages. 


Attorney 1bomas Ashworth, rep­
resentlni Jolin FaesseI. told the 
court to grant temporary support 
would amount to awarding damages 
before a civil dispute goes to trial 


SbIrIey Ann Is represented by at­
torneys Michael om and Robert 
Wood Wood said Gilliam's ruling 
would be appealed. 


SIlIrIey Ann said In her suit that' 
She enleted Into an oral agreement 
with Fa~ III ~ber I • . 


Under terms of the agreemeot. 
Ihe coo she agreecl to : 


- Cobabllate with Jolin L. ~'.-I 
and to hold out IIenelf and Fa I 
as busband and wUe to their f.rIeIIds, 


bon and acquaintances. bull­
~ UIOd&tes, and reJatlvea. 


- Tate \be IIlJ1Ie of Faea.l as 
berown 


- Adopt the lifestyle of F 
and lrafti with blm 


- RaIle and II\IrtiIre dllldmI 
f'r1IIIl a Ior1IIer IIIaI11a&'e-


- Be CIIII1pani11n, 1Io&nemaRr, 
lIoUId;eeper and cooL 


- PrvnIIe an1res to 
eaterpri1eS as a4IIIiDl&tra1Gr and 
1JI&II8&'U. • 


(~."2,CelJ) 


'IIwndoy, May 25, 197. 


Wife By Pact Denied Support 
(C.1Iued In .... " 1) oIab&eoCe. preme Court left the ques-I 


_ Pool her earnings with Gilliam's decision Is \n lion of temporary support 
his under community prop- contrast to two eartler ruI· open In the landmark CUI 
erty laws. Shirley Ann also Ings by Superior Court tovolvlng MIdIeIIe Trlda and 
alleges !bat under the oral Judge Norbert EI\reIIlreWld. actor Lee Marvin 
agreement upon ceasing to who bas granted temporary Shirley Ann'S' attorneys 
live with Faessel, the real support to non-wives. refUsed to reveal yesterday 
and per!lOIIal property ae. EbrenfreUIld, In his cIKi- where &he could be reached 
qutred by thelr jatot efforts stoos, noted the state s~1 for awunenb 
would be equally divided. I ~ ........ u • 


Sbe says to her sult that 00 
March 28 Faessel breached 
their oral agreement by 
"fOrcibly ejecting" her from 


! the house, failing to give her 
I support and refusing to re-
o tum her separate property. 


A spokesman at FaesselOS\ 
~ 0 d1nIc said yesterday lie was 
• unavaUable for comment 


and Is 00 an extended leave 







DRAFT - Judge Gilliam/af 
June 5, 1978 


In Re the Marriage of 


I 


~ 


Petitioner: SHIRLEY ANN FAESSEL 


Respondent: JOHN L. FAESSEL 


) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


-----------------------------------) 


Case No. 414296 


~~MORANDUM OPINION 


This matter came on pursuant to a; motion by petitioner 


The matter was heard 
Lk..~ l I­


on Wednesday, May 24, 1978, petitioner appearing in person and with 


seeking temporary support from respondent. 


her attorney, Michael Clark, and respondent appearing personally 


and through his attorney, Thomas Ashworth. 


At said hearing declarations were submitted by the respec-


ttve parties and oral arguments were also heard. 


The facts basically were that petitioner and respondent 


resided together for approximately the last six years. Petitioner 


further alleges by waY 'of complaint and declarations that the parties 


hereto lived as husband and wife and further that respondent and 


petitioner have an agreement for the division of certain assets which 


were acquired during the course of said relationship. 


Respondent admits in said declarations that he and the peti-


tioner have lived together for approximately six years but denies 


that there was ever any agreement, but further alleges that he was 


disillusioned in the status of matrimony and never intended to have 


such a relationship. 


The parties hereto never married and never entered into any 


type of marital ceremony. 







The issue involved in the case is whether or not there is 


jurisdiction to award temporary support to a woman who had lived 


with a man for six years in the absence of an agreement wherein he 


is to pay support on a temporary basis and/or the absence of a 


marriage ceremony. 


The Family Law Act, Chapter 480 of the Code of Civil Procedure, 


provides that a spouse has a duty and raesponsibility to support the 


other spouse of a marital relationship and further provides that one 


party to a marriage may bring an action seeking support based on 


a ten-day lite order pursuant to an order to show cause. The Family 


Law Act also provides that the alleged father of the child may be 


ordered to pay support to the mother of said child for the support 


of said child or expected child prior to an adjudication as to whether 


or not the alleged father is the father of the child. Based on the 


foregoing, the law provides for temporary support in cases where the 


law declares an obligation and duty. 


In the Marvin v. Marvin, 


(19 case the Supreme Court of the State of California held that a 


nonspouse in a similar situation as the case at bar had a right to 


sue and recover from another nonspouse interest in properties ac­


quired during said relationship pursuant to (1) an agreement either 


expressed or implied, (2) quasi contract, (3) trust either result-


ing or constructive, and it must be borne in mind that said case was 


the sustaining of the right of the nonspouse wife to sue said non­


spouse husband and provided that the trial court must hear the evi­


dence. 


The Marvin theory came after numerous cases wherein a non-


2. 







spouse to a relationship which had none of the benefits of cere­


mony of marriage was precluded from any type of recovery 0 prop rty 


against the other nonspouse except in exceptional circumstances 


wherein the prosecuting nonspouse had a duty and responsibility to 


show by clear and convincing evidence (1) contribution, (2) valu 


of services, (3) agreements . Finally, in the case 0 In R Cray, 


(19 __ ), one district court of app a1 


ruled that the nonspouse in such a relationship would hav right 


to recover, and, even without the clear and convincing vid nc of 


the doctrine previously set forth in addition thereto,Cray also 


held that said nonspouse was entitled to temporary support. 


As of this date the Court is unaware of any appellate deci­


sion reference the issue of temporary support for such a nonspouse. 


However, some trial courts in Los Angeles and another trial court in 


this jurisdiction have consid red the issue and th r appe rs to 


b conflict. 


Th r r no t tut s in th t t tha th Cour i war 


of wh r in tr ng r y look to anoth r orary -upport nd/or t nt pending th outco 0 ~u 


nt on 'th rits of a lawsuit xc pt wh r i h r a 


spous 1, p r ntal, or a childlll: r lat10nship b par 


of the 1 wsuit. It would see that to grant nonspou orary 


support in such a case as at bar y well an taking the property 


OL said respondent without due process. That is to say that a pI in-


tiff or petitioner in a lawsuit could ke allegations setting orth 


either an agreement or some kind of relationship by way 0 declara­


t on and 'n an order to show cause hearing 9 t an ord r wher in 


3. 







• 


either the defendant or respondent in said lawsuit immediately must 


pay assets or monthly contributions over to said petitioner or 


plaintiff. Later, after adjudication on the merits of said lawsuit, 


the Court finds no contract or on behalf of said defendant the de­


fendant would be in the position of having parted with his assets 


without due process. 


Perhaps the appellate courts or the legislature may see 


fit to determine that the state has an interest in the type of re­


lationship which we are herein concerned with, and that under the 


right left to the state to protect the welfare of its citizens such 


a petitioner as herein would be given the right to seek temporary 


support. Further, since there is no formal ceremony, that is,such 


as a marriage, perhaps declarations of two or more parties setting 


forth knowledge of a party's other than the parties of the lawsuit 


of the relationship of the parties would give the Court jurisdiction 


to award temporary support. 


Based on the foregoing reasons, the Court finds that it has 


no authority or jurisdiction to award temporary support to the here­


in petitioner and further finds that the matter is not a domestic 


relations matter and should be transferred to our civil department 


relative to the request for temporary orders of said petitioner. 


Dated: ----------------


Judge of the Superior Court 


EG:af 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA. COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 


• 
N U MBER 19 30 A M 12 00 P M I REPORTER I CLERK 


414296 9:00 • 
COURT 


L C ONVENES AT 


DATE JU DGE I DEP~ WEDNESDAY. MAY 24, 1978 HON . 
PETITIONER ATTORNEY FOR PET IT IONER • SHIRLEY ANN P AESSEL , MICHAEL CLARK ,. 
RESPONDENT ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT 


JOHN L. 'AESSEL L '1'. ASHWOR'l'H / -
PRESENT/ NOT PRESENT '. . 


ISSUE OF JURISDICTION 


' . . , THE ABOVE MATTER CAME ON FOR HEARING THIS DATE WITH ABOVE APPEARANCES . AFTER HEARING THE CO URT ORDERED THAT 


• DCUSTODY _____ CHILDREN TO PTNR CUSTODY ______ CHILDREN TO RESP . 


D VISITATION TO PTNR/ RESP. __ .,--_______ ""---____ '____ _______________ --:-__ --'--:-____ _ 


DSUPPORT : CHILD S _______ MO/ WK/ PER CHILD EFFECTIVE __________ THRU REV 8c REC . 


• SPOUSAL J ____ '----__ MO/ WK . PLUS S MO . SERVICE CHARGE . 


PLUS S FILING FEE WITHIN 9D DAYS/ WAIVED . 


•• OREIMBURSEMENT OF 5 ____ '7--"-COUNTY COSTS FROM PAYMENTS 


DpOSSESSION OF : PTNR ____ '____~ _____ '_____~~----'----~-----------~---'----------I RESP_-:-___________ ~ ____________________ ~--------


DR/ O : MUTUAL/PTNR/ RESP/ ANNOY/ HARRASS/ COM ING ABOUT/ NEW DEBTS/ DISPOSE PROP/ HEALTH INS/ LIFE INS 


DPAYMENTS ; PETITIONER _______ ~-'-________________________________ _ 


RESPONDENT_'----___________ ""---~---------------------------


DREFERRED TO PROB . OFF. FOR CUSTODY INVESTIGATION. PTNR/ RESP TO PAY S _______ FEE . REPORT DUE __________ . 


HEARING DATE ________ _ 


• DFEES J _____ COSTS J ______ cv S ______ MO/ WK BY PTNR/ RESP 


DPTNR/ RESP FOUND GUILTY OF ______ COUNTS OF CONTEMPT. SENTENCED TO _____ DAYS CUSTODY ____ DAYS EACH COUNT. 


• CONSECUTIVE/CONCURRENTLY. FINE J IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE SUSPENDED ON CONDITION ; ___________ __ 


DPTNR/ RESP ORDERED TO PAY J ____ "...:. ___ MO/WK ON ARREARAGE OF J, ______________ ~ 


• DB/W ISSUE . BAIL J ________ ,,--__ HOLD SERVICE TO' __ -:-___ '____ ___________ -:--______ '----_ 


• DSTiP ORDER _____ SEND ORDER TO OPPOSING COUNSEL FOR APPROVAL PRIOR TO PRESENTING TO COURT FOR SIGNATURE 


DB/W RECALLED OFF CALENDAR ______ CONT'D TO ________ M. ON ___________ DEPT· _____ 
1 


• OTHER : 


MINUTES OF THE COURT 
FOIl" 0 zs eo ell 1.·111 







DRAFT - Judge Gilliam:af 
6/23/78 


FAESSEL v. FAESSEL 


NO. -----------
~mMORANDUM OPINION 


This matter came up for hearing on May 24, 1978 in Depart-


ment 3 of the Superior Court, the Family Law and Motion Department, 


on petitioner's order to show cause, both parties being present; 


petitioner Shirley M. Faessel being represented by her attorney, 


Michael A. Clark, and respondent represented by his attorney, 


Thomas Ashworth III. 


At the hearing,declarations of the parties and attorneys 


were submitted and filed with the Court. In addition thereto, 


points and authorities were filed on behalf of both parties. 


Following oral argument the matter was taken under submis-


sion by the Court to determine the issue of whether or not the 


Court has jurisdiction to grant to petitioner a pendente lite order 


for temporary support. Petitioner has heretofore prior to this 


hearing filed a complaint seeking relief re breach of contract, 


specific performance, quasi-contract, etc. (numerous other actions 


other than a cause of action under the Family Law Act). Respond-


ent at the time of this hearing has not filed an answer to the afore-


mentioned complaint. 


Petitioner alleges that the petitioner and respondent have 


lived together as husband and wife for appro~imately six years and 


that there is an agreement for the division of assets acquired during 


said relationship. 


Respondent admits living with petitioner for six years but 







.,. 


denies any agreement re the division of assets and further alleges 


that he informed bhe petitioner that he was disillusioned in the 


status of matrimony. 


Petitioner and respondent never participated in a marriage 


ceremony of any kind nor were any children born to or during said re-


lationship. 


The issue to be resolved is whether the Court has jurisdic-


tion to award temporary support to teJ~arty of ~ meretricious or 
1I~/~t ~ 


nonmarital relationship, pending t ~outcome of a lawsuit) in the 


absence of an agreement and/or absence of a marriage ceremony and/or 


the absence of children born to said relationship. 


As of this date the Court is unaware of any appellate decisions 


on said issue, however several trial courts have considered the same 
-rlu..rr cLu...r',-\ ~ ~ c -- f- I \"c...-t , 


and 4=hcrc i. a sShflie't; Sit 1:88 pojaoe. 


In 1976 the Supreme court of this State decided the case of 


Marvin v. Marvin, 18 Cal.3d 660,wherein the property rights of parties 


to a meretricious or nonmarital relationship were considered and de-


fined. 


At the time of the Harvin decision the appellate courts were 


f...~~.r-
in conflict as to whether or not such a sPQQse had a right to inter-


est in property acquired during such a relationship. One line of 


cases such as In Re Cary, 34 Cal.App.3d 345 decided in 1973, held the 
<rOO\) 


the Family Law Act (Code of Civil Procedure 4800) was applicable to 


custody of children born to a couple who lived in a nonmarital rela-


tionship without the benefit of matrimony, and said case further re-


quired an equal division of property acquired by said couple during 


said relationship. The Estate of Atherlf, 44 Cal.App.3d 758 (1975), 


2. 







followed the ruling of Cary in theory and rationale. 


On the other hand, another district court of appeal 


decided Beckman v. Mayhew, 49 Cal.App.3d 529 (1975), and refused to 


follow Cary and Ather~ and held that such a spouse could not re-


cover any of the assets acquired during the nonmarital or meretricious 


relationship, except in the case of an express agreement to pool funds, 
that 


or in the absence of an agreement/said spouse contributed funds toward 


the acquiring of said property. The Mayhew case followed the lead 


of the earlier cases of Vallera v. Vallera, 21 Cal.2d 681 (1943); 
~ 


and Keene v. Keene, 57 Cal.2d 657 (196~). It must be noted that none 


of the foregoing cases decided dealt directly with the issue of whether 
a 


or not the court had jurisdiction in such cases to award/pendente lite 


order for temporary support. The Marvin case disapproved and rejected 


the reasoning set forth in Cary and held that the Family Law Act 


did not apply to a meretricious __ or a nonrnari tal relationship. 


"No language in the Family Law Act addresses the property 
rights of nonmarital partners, and nothing in the legis­
lative history of the act suggests that the Legislature 
considered that subject. The delineation of the rights 
of nonmarital partners before 1970 haabeen fixed en­
tirely by judicial decision; we see no reason to believe 
that the Legislature, by enacting the Family Law Act, 
intended to change that state 'of affairs." 


~--a-r-v-i-n--, -~~supra at p. 681. 


However, Marvin did not recognize that if a party to such a 


relationship does have certain rights, they may be protected,and 


therefore rejected the views of Vallera and Keene and ~fayhew. 
the 


"We conclude that/judicial barriers that may stand in 
the way of a policy based upon the fulfillment of the 
reasonable expectations of the parties to a nonmarital 
relationship should be removed." 


~rvin,rsupra at p. 684. 


3. 
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Marvin did not decide the issue of temporary support, but did mention 


same in a footnote. 


"We do not pass upon the question whether, in the ab­
sence of an express or implied contractual obligation, 
a party to a nonmarital relationship is entitled to 
support payments from the other party ~ the relation­
ship terminates." 


(Marvin, supra at p. 685, fn. 26. 


vides: 


Civil Code Section 4359 (part of the Family Law Act) pro-


"During the pendency of any proceeding under Title 2 
(commencing with Section 4400) or Title 3 (commencing 
with Section 4500) of this part, upon application of 
either party in the manner provided by Section 527 of 
the Code of Civil Procedure, the superior court may 
issue ex parte orders (1) restraming any person from 
transferring, encumbering, hypothecating, concealing, 
or in any way disposing of any property, real or per­
sonal, whether community, quasi-community, or separate, 
except in the usual course of business or for the ne­
cessities of life, and if such order is directed 
against a party, requiring him to notify the other party 
of any proposed extraordinary expenditures and to 
account to the court for all such extraordinary expendi­
tures; (2) enjoining any party from molesting or disturb­
ing the peace of the other party or any person under the 
care, custody, or control of the other party; (3) exclud­
ing either party from the family dwelling or from the 
dwelling of the other upon a showing that physical or 
emotional harm would otherwise result, as provided in 
Section 5102; and (4) determining the temporary custody 
of any minor children of the marriage." 


The ~~~8 cause of action of the petitioner is based on 


contract and BXARX other civil cause of action and not on an alle-


~ __ g_a_t __ i_o~n~o~f~marriage nor child support nor child custody. 


Section 577 of the Code of Civil Procedure provides: \ 


"A judgment is the final determination of the rights ) 
of the parties in an action or proceeding.-


.,..;... l,~ '0 
This Court fOll0ln7S Marvin v. Marvin and holds that the 


Family Law Act is not applicable in the case at bar. 


4. 







If the Court were to grant petitioner's motion for temporary 


support it would be taking respondent's property without due pro­


cess of law and in essence petit~er would be faced with paying ~ J 
~ l~ '\W-\ 


over his property without a decision on the merits. Example: Sup- ~ 


pose one party to a lawsuit in a relationship files declarations and/or 


complaint setting forth an agreement, and based on said pleadings 


the Court ordered payments to the other party prior to judgment. 


Perhaps two or three years later at the time of the trial a person 


in respondent's position would prevail and a court deciding that 


petitioner was not entitled to anything, the result would be that 


respondent would have paid out his property without a trial on the 


merits. 


For the foregoing reason, the Court finds that it is without 


jurisdiction in such a case as the one at bar to grant petitioner 


~ , ~t' ............ +\) 


~ M~"t- ~~-4 
any orders for temporary support. 
~ \..-. ~ ~ 1~"' \- ... 


~a Dated: --------------------


Judge of the Superior Court 


I 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 


APPELLATE DEPARTMENT 


FILED ______________ _ 


THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF 
CALIFORNIA, 


v. 


RAMIRO GALVAN, 


Plaintiff and 
Respondent, 


Defendant and 
Appellant. 


) 
) 
) 
) SUPERIOR COURT NO. CR 46261 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


MUNICIPAL COURT NO. 283102 
(San Diego Judicial District) 


o PIN ION 


Appeal from judgment of the Municipal Court, San Diego 


19 JUdicial District, County of San Diego, State of California. The 


20 Honorable Earl K. Adams, Judge. Affirmed. 


21 John W. Witt, City Attorney, by S. Patricia Rosenbaum, Deputy 


22 City Attorney, appearing for plaintiff and respondent. 


23 Michael B. Harris, Esq., appearing for defendant and appellant. 


24 This is an appeal after denial of a motion to suppress 


25 pursuant to Penal Code Section 1538.5, and a plea of guilty to 


26 Health and Safety Code Section 11550, and the imposition of a 







1 mandatory 90-day sentence pursuant to Health and Safety Code Sec-


2 tion 11550. 


3 The defendant and appellant raises three contentions: 


4 (1) That the facts that were available to the officer 


5 at the time of the stop, search, and seizure amounted to an illegal 


6 stop, search and seizure, and should have been suppressed pursuant 


7 to Penal Code Section 1538.5; 


8 (2) That the court abused its discretion in resolving 


9 all inferences in favor of the police officer's testimony; 


10 (3) That the mandatory 90-day jail term provided in 


11 Health and Safety Code Section 11550 is unconstitutional in that: 


12 (a) it constitutes cruel and unusual punish-


13 ment; and 


14 (b) it violates constitutionally mandated 


15 separation of legislative and judicial powers; and 


16 (c) it constitutes cruel and unusual punish-


17 ment as it relates to appellant. 


18 Facts were presented to the trial court that on October 7, 


19 1978, at about 1:15 p.m. in the afternoon, Officer Barack and 


20 Officer Aceves were dressed in plainclothes, driving an unmarked 


21 police vehicle in the area of 14th and Market in the City of 


22 San Diego. They were members of the Crime Suppression Unit', with 


23 a primary responsibility of contacting and arresting persons under 


24 the influence of heroin and other drugs. Barack had been a police 


25 officer for nine years and had had nine years' experience in 


26 narcotics enforcement. Officer Barack observed two persons on 
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the porch and front yard of a two-story rooming house at 525 14th 


2 Street, San Diego. The property was surrounded bi a three-foot 


3 cyclone fence with three or five signs stating "No Il'respassing." 


4 Officer Barack knew this address as being a place where heroin 


5 users, abusers and dealers congregate for the purpose of buying, 


6 injecting or selling heroin. Officer Barack saw two people, an 


7 unknown male, later identified as appellant Galvan, and a female 


8 known as "CC" or "CeCe" on the porch. Officer Barack had arrested 


9 "CeCe" some months before for possession of narcotics, and possession 


10 for sale, and knew that she had been convicted of heroin use, but 


11 had had no contact with her since then. From his prior contact with 


12 "CeCe" he kne,Y' that she had been living with he:!" father at a 


13 different address than 525 14th Street. 


14 Officer Barack further testified that his purpose of in-


15 quiring of the appellant and the female known as "CeCe" was to see 


16 what they were doing at that location, because the apartment house 


17 owner had asked him to keep people other than tenants away from 


18 the house. He said the boarding house was known to him to be a 


19 high drug area and he had made 100 arrests there in the past six 


20 months. Upon questioning by the court, Officer Barack stated that 


21 only about five of those arrested were tenants at that address. 


22 Officer Barack made contact with appellant and asked 'if he 


23 lived at that address, and whether he had seen the No Trespassing 


24 signs. Galvan, appellant, stated, "No.- Barack asked appellant 


25 for identification and noticed that appellant's response in produc-


26 ing his driver's license was slow. Barack then observed that 


-3-







appellant's eye pupils were abnormally small as they stood in a 


2 shaded area. Appellant's speech was slow and deliberate and a 


3 fresh injection mark was visible on his right inner arm fold as 


4 his shirt sleeves were rolled up. Barack then inspected the pupils 


5 of appellant's eyes at a closer distance and still found them to be 


6 abnormally small and unresponsive a~ he shaded his eyes with his 


7 hand. The officer determined that appellant was under the influence 


8 of a controlled substance and arrested him for a violation of Health 


9 and Safety Code Section 11550. 


10 On cross-examination Barack testified as follows: 


11 He had some present recollection of the specific events 


12 during the arrest, and had relied on fellow officer Aceves' police 


13 report to refresh . his recollection and used that report from time 


14 to time in court to aid in his testii£lony. The police report was 


15 made out by Officer Aceves about one hour after the arrest. Officer 


16 Barack could not remember the boarding house owner's name. The 


17 first time he talked with the owner about keeping trespassers off 


18 the premises was several years prior to October 7, 1978, and the 


19 last contact he had with the owner was over a year prior to October 


20 7, 1978. Barack further testified that appellant and "CeCe" were 


21 within speaking distance but could not recall if they were talking 


22 together. The officer could not recall if there was a third person 


23 on the porch during this incident, although frequently an older man 


24 in his 50's does sit there. 


25 Barack further recalled that appellant's right hand was 


26 missing a few fingers and appeared crippled, but did not know if 
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there was a tattoo there. He also noted that the "track/injection 


2 marks" were fresh and appellant's sleeves were rolled up. The 


3 officer also testified that he could not identify by name persons 


4 living at the house. He knew four or five residents by sight by 


5 virtue of prior contacts, and believed there were seven to nine 


6 different people in seven to nine different living units at the 


7 address. 


8 Officer Barack also confirmed that he did not notice any 


9 furtive gestures, or any suspicious activity concerning either 


10 appellant or "CeCe." 


11 Appellant was sworn and testified as follows: 


12 He had given a ride to a friend in his car, and the friend 


13 had asked that appellant stop at the apartment house so that he 


14 could see a tenant inside. Appellant chose to wait for the friend 


15 and was seated on the steps of the front porch of the boarding 


16 house reading a newspaper. A female known to him by the name of 


17 Cecilia was on the porch, as was a resident known to appellant as 


18 Toto. He was not talking with Cecilia when the police approached. 


19 The two men came up to the porch while appellant was seated on the 


20 steps reading the paper. One man talked to Cecilia, and the other 


21 man identified himself as Police Officer Barack and talked to ap-


22 pellant. Barack asked appellant what he was doing there and appellant 


23 said he was visiting a friend. Barack asked for identification. 


24 Appellant remained seated. He removed his wallet from his left rear 


25 pocket with his left hand. Then Barack told appellant to roll up 


26 his sleeves to allow the officer to inspect the inner arm soft skin 
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at the elbow joint. Appellant wore a long-sleeved shirt rolled up 


2 one or two rolls above the wrist, but below the elbow. Appellant 


3 rolled up his sleeve between one-fourth to one-third of the way 


4 between his wrist and elbow. The elbow inner skin was concealed 


5 


6 


7 


8 


!) 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


and no marks could be seen. Appellant also displayed a tattoo with 


a figure with the letters "IRO" , a nickname. When appellant displayed 


his right hand during the testimony, it was apparent he was missing 


some fingers, giving the hand an unusual appearance. The tattoo was 


above his wrist and below the elbow on his right forearm. Appellant 


testified he did as he was told and rolled up his left sleeve to 


display his arms to the elbow joints. Officer Barack ordered 


appellant to stand up and the officer inspected appellant's eyes 


with the shade from his hand. The officer then placed defendant 


under arrest. 


Judge Adams. denied appellant's motion to suppress after 


which the appellant entered a plea of guilty to violation of Health 


and Safety Code Section 11550. Judge Adams imposed sentence on 


February 7, 1979 as follows: 


Summary probation for two years on condition 


that the defendant serve the mandatory 90-day 


incarceration in the County Jail, credit for 


two days time already served, and the further 


condition that the defendant not repeat the 


offense. 


Judge Adams stayed execution of the sentence for 90 days to 


allow the defendant to appeal his decision, and on February 9, 1979, 
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the defendant filed a Notice of Appeal, and this case represents 


the subject of said appeal. 


I 


WAS THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED AND RECEIVED BY 
THE COURT THE RESULT OF AN ILLEGAL STOP, 
SEARCH, AND SEIZURE WHICH SHOULD HAVE 
BEEN SUPPRESSED PURSUANT TO PENAL CODE 
SECTION 1538.5? 


The appellant, along with another person, was sitting on 


the porch of a boarding house near 14th and Market at 1:15 p.m. 


Officer Barack testified that he knew some of the other parties 


with the defendant before any contact with the appellant was made. 


Officer Barack further testified that the boarding house was located 


in an area characterized as "a location of high narcotics trans-


actions" (approximately 100 arrests in the past six months of 


which five were persons who resided at said boarding house). The 


appellant was sitting with "CeCe," a known user and seller of 


narcotics who did not reside at the house. Further, that there 


were tlNo Trespassingtl signs posted on the fence around the house. 


Further, that the owner of the house had requested police officers 


to keep non-tenants off the premises, and further that though 


appellant was unknown to Officer Barack, Officer Barack did know 


four or five of the seven to nine residents of said house by sight. 


An officer's observation from a place where he has a right 


to be is not a search; Lorenzana v. Superior Court, 9 Cal.3d 626 


(1973). Hence, the officer's observations which gave him a right 


to make the initial contact were not the product of any detention 


and as stated in Lorenzana, these factors provided a reasonable 
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basis for the officer's belief that the contact with appellant was 


2 appropriate. Hence the number of persons arrested at the address 


3 who were residents, the activities of drug involvement, trespass, 


4 and the drug history of the person "CeCe" added to the officer's 


5 suspicion that the appellant in the case at bar did not belong 


6 there. 


7 The public interest requires a police officer to investigate 


8 circumstances that are consistent with both criminal and innocent 


9 activity to resolve whether illegality in fact exists. In re 


10 Tony C., 21 Cal.3d 888, 894 {1978}. 


11 Therefore, Officer Barack could reasonably question appellant 


12 as to whether he lived on the premises to ascertain whether he was 


13 trespassing, whether "CeCe" was his guest if he responded he was a 


14 tenant. 


15 The finding by the court is that the initial contact of the 


16 officer was a reasonable investigation of trespass, and during 


17 this initial contact at the front porch, the officer observed ad-


18 ditional factors which suggested drug involvement; such as, the 


19 slow response of appellant in producing identification, the slow 


20 and deliberate speech, fresh injection marks, and abnormally small 


21 pupils considering the shaded area in which he stood. These 


22 observations occurred in plain view and were observed by the 'officer 


23 where the officer had a right to be, and the officer is entitled to 


24 evaluate objective, observable factors in light of his own expe-


25 rience. 


26 III 
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1 Based on the foregoing reasons and quantities of evidence 


2 presented to the trial court, the denial of the motion to suppress 


3 was proper. 


4 II 


5 DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN 
RESOLVING ALL INFERENCE IN FAVOR OF 


6 THE POLICE OFFICER'S TESTIMONY? 


7 The court as a trier of fact has empowered the judge with 


8 the effect and value of the evidence, the credibility of the 


9 witnesses and to resolve factual conflicts. People v. Hecker, 


10 179 Cal.App.2d 823 (1960). 


11 II [T]he power of the reviewing court begins 
and ends with a determination of whether 


12 there exists in the record substantial evi­
dence, contradicted or not, which will sup-


13 port the (findings) and if there is, the 
strength of the opposing evidence or in-


14 ferences is immaterial, for evidence is not 
weighed on appeal. Likewise, we are bound 


15 to liberally construe the findings in sup­
port of the judgment indulging in all rea-


16 sonable inferences, resolving every sub­
stantial conflict in the testimony and 


17 construing any uncertainties in their favor." 
Id., at 828 (Citations omitted.). 


18 


19 Evidence Code Section 411 states: "the direct evidence of 


20 one witness who is entitled to full credit is sufficient proof of 


21 any fact. II 


22 The court was reasonable in choosing to accept Officer 


23 Barack's testimony wherein Officer Barack testified regarding his 


24 observations of the appellant, the nature and duration of the 


25 III 


26 III 
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contact, and his determination that appellant was under the influence 


of heroin at that time, and that Officer Barack's testimony was 


the more credible of the two witnesses. 


The court's resolution of questions of fact should not be 


disturbed because the court was reasonable in choosing to accept 


Officer Barack's testimony. 


Based on the foregoing reasons, the court did not abuse its 


discretion. 


III 


IS THE MANDATORY 90-DAY JAIL SENTENCE 
UNDER HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE SECTION 
11550 UNCONSTITUTIONAL? 


The California Supreme Court recently in People v. Tanner, 


24 Cal.3d 514 (1979) held that the mandatory provisions of Penal 


Code Section 1203.06, prohibit the granting of probation if a 


15 firearm is carried or used in connection with certain crimes. One 


16 
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18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


of the decisions that the Supreme Court relied upon in the Tanner 


case was Keeler v. Superior Court, 2 Cal.3d 619, 631 (1970), which 


stated: 


" [S]ubject to the constitutional prohibition 
against cruel and unusual punishment, the 
power to define crimes and fix penalties is 
vested exclusively in the legislative branch." 


The 90-day sentencing provision of Health and Safety Code 


Section 11550 has been recently addressed by several appellate 


courts and those courts are in agreement that said sentencing provi-


sion does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment. 


III 
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The issue was considered in Smith v. Municipal Court, 78 


2 Cal.App.3d 592, 600 (1978); Bosco v. Justice Court, 77 Cal.App.3d 


3 179, 188 (1978); and in In re Orosco, 82 Cal.App.3d 924 (1978). 


4 Each court is in agreement that said 90-day sentencing provision 


5 of Health and Safety Code Section 1:550 does not constitute cruel 


6 and unusual punishment. In In re Orosco, supra, the court stated: 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


"A defendant who challenges a penalty as 
cruel or unusual bears the burden of es­
tablishing that the penalty' ••• is so 
disproportionate to the crime for which 
it is inflicted that it shocks the con­
science and offends fundamental notions 
of human dignity.' (Citations omitted.) 
Unless this standard is met and unconsti­
tutionally appears, clearly, positively 
and unmistakably (citations omitted), the 
courts will not tamper with the legisla­
tive directive." 


14 In the case at bar, appellant has not wet the standard as 


15 set forth in In re Orosco, i.e., defendant has not established that 


16 the mandatory penalty as per Health and Safety Code Section 11550 


17 is disproportionate to the crime nor as it is applied to the 


18 appellant. 


19 Based on the foregoing reasons, the Court finds that the 


20 90-day sentencing provision of Health and Safety Code Section 11550 


21 is not unconstitutional on its face, nor is it unconstitutional in 


22 its application to appellant. 


23 III 


24 III 


25 III 


26 III 


-11-







.. 


2 


3 


4 


5 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


EBG/pap 


CONCLUSION 


For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the trial court 


is affirmed in its entirety. 


Judgment affirmed. 


t./ 


DIS SEN T 


I dissent. 


The police are not private security guards for apartment house 


owners. We are told that the owner of the apartment had asked the 


police to keep people other than tenants away from the house. That 


is the reason when the officer passed by and saw the female, known 


to him as "CeCe", and the appellant upon the apartment porch that he 


stopped to inquire. That is no basis for stopping to invade the 


privacy of private citizens. The officer had no way of knowing and 


did not know when he inquired of appellant whether he was a tenant . 
or not. There was nothing inherently suspicious about what he saw 


or what was going on. The fact that this may have been a drug area, 


and that "CeCe" was known to him creates no justifiable suspicion 


even with the ambit of In re Tony C., 21 Cal.3d 888 to justify the 


III 
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invasion of privacy that took place. On this ground, without ad­


dressing myself to any other points raised, I would reverse. 


I' 


J. 
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SUPERIOR COUH'l' OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 


10 CRAIG P. FITZGERALD, 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


Plaintiff, 


v. 


ROBERT O. CONLEY and DOES I 
through V, inclusive, 


Defendants. 


Case No. 413863 


MEMO HAN DUM OF INTENDED DECISION 


The above-entitled matter came on for trial in Department 11 


17 on June 19, 1978. Plaintiff, Craig P. Fitzgerald, appearing in 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


\ 
I • 


propria persona, and Robert O. Conley, the defendant, appearing in 


person and by counsel, Merle N. Schneidewind. 


This matter was submitted by way of stipulation as to the facts, 


and the matter was taken under submission and respective counsel 


submitted points and authqrities. 


At a later date, one of said counsel informed the Court that a 


decision need not be made, in that a collateral action had been settled. 


A long period of time elapsed and the Court is informed that 


there was a misunderstanding reference / whether or not the Court should 







- - "'---


1 make a decision. 


2 The Court finds that the defendant called and asked the plain-


3 tiff to draft an antenuptial agreement prior to his then pending 


4 marriage approximately Christmas of 1969. Defendant, at said time, 


5 gave the plaintiff a copy of an antenuptial agreement which had been 


6 drawn up by another attorney reference a previous marriage of the 


7 defendant. The present agreement, which is the subject of this 


8 action, was then drafted and prepared by plaintiff, and the defendant 


9 and his present wife came to the plaintiff's office to review and 


10 sign the agreement. The agreement was a wedding gift from the plain-


11 tiff to the defendant, and the defendant never paid for said agree-


12 ment to be prepared. 


13 The primary issue raised by the pleadings and by the parties 


14 hereto is: Did the plaintiff-attorney owe a duty to the defendant 


15 based on the gift of an antenuptial agreement? 


16 A duty will exist if the existence of an attorney-client 


17 relationship is determined. As a general rule, the determination is 


18 one of law. "However, where there is a conflict in the evidence the 


19 factual basis for the determination must first be determined, and it 


20 is for the trial court to evaluate the evidence." Heehan v. Hopps, 


21 144 Cal.App.2d 284, 287 (1956). 


22 Generally, all persons are required to use ordinary care to 


23 prevent others from being injured as a result of their conduct. 


24 The Restatement Second of Torts provides in Section 324A: 


25 "One who undertakes, gratuitously or for 
consideration, to render services to 


26 another which he should recognize as 
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necessary for the protection of a third 
person or his things, is subject to 
liability to the third person for physical 
harm resulting from his failure to exercise 
reasonable care to protect his undertaking, 
if (a) his failure to exercise reasonable 
care increases the risk of such harm, or 
(b) he has undertaken to perform a duty 
owed by the other to the third person, or 
(c) the harm is suffered because of reli­
ance of the other or the third person upon 
the undertaking." 


8 In the case at bar, the plaintiff-attorney undertook to 


9 render services to the defendant, which he should have recognized 


10 as necessary for the protection of defendant's property. Therefore, 


11 it would be foreseeable that defendant would suffer harm if plaintiff 


12 did not exercise due care. 


13 The fact that the plaintiff did not charge a fee should not 


14 alter the finding that a relationship of attorney-client existed. 


15 In In re Soale, 31 Cal.App. 144, 153 (1916) the court stated: "The 


16 fact that in this particular transaction he did not enter any fee 


17 charges against her does not change the situation at all, for he was 


18 entitled to charge such fees if he so desired." The court went on 


19 to find that the attorney had violated confidences of his client 


20 regarding business transactions, even though no fee was paid. 


21 Witkins on California Evidence (Second Edition) at page 746 


22 discusses the attorney-client privilege, and the same is discussed 


23 in the Evidence Code. The substance of Witkins and the Evidence Code 


24 is that once an attorney has been contacted in his professional 


25 capacity, the attorney-client relationship commences to exist, and 


26 it exists for the purpose of claiming the privilege and for the purpose 
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of acting on behalf of an individual, and it is for the purposes of 


2 establishing a duty and standard of care that is due from the attorney 


3 to the individual. The Court further looks to similar situations 


4 where appointed counsel represent indigent clients, and said services 


5 are performed for free. There are cases that indicate in such 


6 situations that appointed counsel enter into an attorney-client 


7 relationship, and said counsel are held to the same standard as 


8 though they were privately retained. Smith v. Superior Court of Los 


9 Angeles County, 68 Cal.2d 547. 


10 Based on the foregoing, the Court finds that plaintiff-


11 attorney owed a duty to defendant on the basis of an attorney-client 


12 relationship, and judgment should be entered accordingly. 
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Dated: 
Judge of the Superior Court 
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January 29, 1979 


To: Judge Gilliam 


From: Cindy Muckey, Research Assistant 


Re: Craig P. Fitzgerald v. Robert A. Conley, 413863 


ISSUE: 


Did the plaintiff-attorney owe a duty to the defendant 


based upon the alleged gift of an Antenuptial Agreement? 


ANSWER: 


Irrespective of any alleged gratuitous rendering of servicesJ 


an attorney-client relationship appears to have existed which 


is sufficient to support the contention that a duty was owed by 


the attorney to the client in performing such services. 


DISCUSSION: 


This suit was brought to have the court declare whether or 


not plaintiff-attorney owed a duty to defendant Robert o. Conley 


in the drafting of an Antenuptial Agreement. A duty will exist 


if the existence of an attorney-client relationship is determined. 


Generally this determination is one of law. "However, where there 


is a conflict in the evidence the factual basis for the determina-


tion must first be determined, and it is for the trial court to 


evaluate the evidence." Meehan v. Hopps, 144 Cal.App.2d 284, 287 


(1956). The trial court must decide the conflicting evidence in 


light of the credibility of the witnesses. Meehan, supra at page 


288. The credibility of the witnesses here is not ascertainable 


from the trial briefs and declarations, therefore, the judge's 


perception of the witnesses could change the outcome of this case. 


1 







Plaintiff maintains that a doner-donee relationship existed 


while defendant contends that an attorney-client relationship 


existed. The undisputed facts are: 1- that defendant called 


and asked plaintiff to draft an Antenuptial Agreement prior 


to his marriagei 2- that defendant gave plaintiff a copy of an 


Antenuptial Agreement drawn up by another attorneYi 3- that the 


present agreement was drafted by plaintiff, and 4- that defendant 


and his wife-to-be came to plaintiff's office to review and sign 


the Agreement. 


Plaintiff and defendant disagrees as to whether or not the 


product of the relationship was to be a wedding gift from a friend 


or the work-product of an attorney. Plaintiff alleges that he 


never intended their relationship to be one of employment, while 


defendant argues that he contacted plaintiff as an attorney and 


intended to pay plaintiff, although he can not remember receiving 


a billing statement for services. 


The ~uestion whether one owes a duty to another must be 


decided on a case-by-case basis. Generally all persons are re-


quired to use ordinary care to prevent others from being injured 


as the result of the1r conduct. 


The Restatement Second of Torts provides in section 324A: 


"One who undertakes, gratuitously or for con­
sideration, to render services to another which 
he should recognize as necessary for the pro­
tection of a third person or his things, is 
subject to liability to the third person for 
physical harm resulting from his failure to 
exercise reasonable care to protect his under­
taking, if (a) his failure to exercise reasonable 
care increases the risk of such harm, or (b) 
he has undertaken to perform a duty owed by the 
other to the third person, or (c) the harm is 
suffered because of reliance of the other or the 
third person upon the undertaking." 


2 







.. . 


Here, the plaintiff undertook to render services to defendant 


which he should have recognized as necessary for the protection of 


defendant's property. Defendant could foreseeably suffer harm 


if plaintiff did not exercise due care. 


An antenuptial agreement is not a typical wedding gift. While 


the finished product, the executed Antenuptial Agreement, may have 


been intended as a gift, the intermediate work product was com­


pleted by the attorney-plaintiff after initial contact by and 


subsequent consultations with the defendant. All contacts and 


consultation$were at plaintiff's attorney office. Under such 


circumstances, it is reasonable that defendant believed that the 


relationship was one of attorney-client. 


In a disbarment action, In re Soale, 31 Cal.App. 144, 153 


(1916) the court stated: "The fact that in this particular 


transaction he did not enter any fee charges against her does not 


change the situation at all, for he was entitled to charge such 


fees if he so desired." There the court found that the attorney 


had violated confidences of the client regarding business trans­


actions even though no fee was paid. 


Here, the plaintiff-attorney conferred with defendant before 


drafting the document and before defendant signed the document. 


Plaintiff-attorney could have charged defendant for the services, 


and the fact that he did not, does not alter the relationship. 


CONCLUSION 


Plaintiff-attorney owed a duty to defendant on the basis 


of an attorney-client relationship. 
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COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT 


DIVISION ONE 


STATE OF CALIFORNIA 


VIRGINIA A. GARCIA, ( 
) 


Plaintiff and Respondent, ( 
) 


v. ( 4 Civ. No. 22126 
) 


JANE LA ROSA, ( (Superior Court No. 404095) 
) 


Defendant and Appellant. ( 
) 


APPEAL from a judgment of the Superior Court of San Diego 


County. Earl B. Gilliam, Judge. Affirmed. 


THE COURT* 


Jane La Rosa appeals a judgment ordering her to convey real 


property to Virginia A. Garcia. La Rosa contends she validly 


cancelled the contract and the evidence does not support the 


trial court finding time was not of the essence. 


La Rosa agreed to sell Garcia a house located at 4260 


Clairemont Drive, San Diego, for the purchase price of $42,250. 


The escrow instructions were signed b y Garcia July 8, 1977, and 


( 1) 


*Before Cologne, Acting P.J., Staniforth, J. and Wiener, J. 







provided escrow was to close by July 29. · The instructions were 


mailed to La Rosa for signature on July 8 but were not returned 


to the escrow holder until July 22. It was then too late to 


process Garcia's loan by July 29. La Rosa did not cancel or 


repudiate the contract on July 29, although the escrow deadline 


had arrived. Garcia's loan was approved by August 3. Garcia 


had originally been the person to insist on the specified clos­


ing date because ·she did not wish to incur additional rent. How­


ever, on account of the delay, she arranged for . rental housing 


until the end of August. Accordingly, when her loan was approved 


she indicated there was no problem letting the escrow remain ·open 


until the end of August. On August 10 La Rosa attempted to 


repudiate the entire transaction by letter of cancellation. 


The trial court found Garcia did everything possible to 


comply with the terms of the contract; La Rosa's delay in return­


ing the signed escrow instructions delayed processing of the loan 


and constituted a waiver of La Rosa's right to rely on the time 


limitation; the contract interpreted in light of the circumstances 


did not provide time was of the essence but rather provided Garcia 


a reasonable time to comply with the terms and conditions; from 


July 22 to August 10 was not a reasonable time to expect Garcia 


to fully complete her obligations in the transaction, hence La Rosa 


had no right to cancel on that date; and the price of the house 


was an adequate consideration. The judgment decreed specific 


performance and costs in favor of Garcia. 


(2) 







The trial court may interpret a contract in light of the 


parties' expressed intentions and contemporaneous conduct 


(Pacific Gas & E. Co. v. G. W. Thomas Drayage, Etc. Co., 69 Cal. 


2d 33, 38-39). Even where time if of the essence, passing a 


deadline does not automatically result in the buyer's forfeiting 


his rights (Katemis v. Westerlind, 120 Cal.App.2d 537; Williams 


Plumbing Co. v. Sinsley, 53 Cal.App.3d 1027). Time deadlines 


may be waived by conduct of the parties, such as failing to insist 


on observation of those deadlines (Chan v. Title Ins. & Trust Co., 


39 Ca1.2d 253, 258-259; Lifton v. Harshman, ~O Cal.App.2d 422, . 


433). Further, a party will not be heard to complain of a delay 


to which he has contributed. (See Riverside Fence Co. v. Novak, 


273 Cal.App.2d 656, 663.) 


Here the trial court's conclusions are supported by the 


evidence La Rosa did not originally insist on the July 29 dead­


line and did not immediately protest when it passed; she, herself, 


contributed to the lateness of the loan processing and to the 


situation where Garcia had to rent living quarters through the 


end of August; she offered no explanation indicating why a prompt 


sale was essential; and her testimony made obvious her only real 


reason for cancellation was the late discovery she might get a 


better price for the property. 


Judgment affirmed. 


( 3) 
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OCT 18 1978 


IX I.. PIUCE., 0", 


SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 


VIRGINIA A. GARCL, 


Plaintiff , ) No. 40 095 
) 


vs. ) 
) 


JANE LaROSA and DOES I } 
through V, inclusive , ) 


) 
Defendants. ) 


) 


This matter came on for trial in Department 11 on June 23, 


1978, pI intiff, Virginia A. G rcia, appearing in rson and through 


er attorney, Craig P. Fitzg raId, and def ndant, Jane La Ro~ I 


ppear~ng in p rson and through her attorney, Douglas F. ebb. 


Evidence was t ken by the Court and argument w s pres nted by the 


respective counsel. The matter • s taken under s ion nd 


respective counsel 'ere to sub it points and authoriti s . 


The Court finds from the evidence that w s sub itt d th t 


plaintiff and defendant entered into an agree ent for the sale of a 


home located at 4260 Clairemont Drive, San Oi go, which provided 
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that defendant was to convey title to plaintiff and the sale price 


was $42,250 . Pursuant to said agreement, an escrow was opened at 


the Mission Escrow Company . 


Plaintiff signed escrow instructions (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1) 


on or about July 8, 1977, and thereafter the defendant signed said 


escrow instructions (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2) and said escrow instruc­


tions and exhibit were received by said escrow company on or about 


July 22, 1.977" 


Plaintiff did , pursuant to said agreement, deposit with said 


escrow company the sum of $1,000 on July 7 , 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 


3) and plaintiff proceeded to arrange for the financing pursuant to 


said escrow instructions by cont cting Glendale Federal Savings and 


Loan and said savings and loan did approve the loan for said premises 


and committed itself to lend money for the purchase of said premises 


(Plaintiff ' s Exhibit 8) " On July 22, 197i, the said commitment as 


forwarded to sa"d escrow company. 


The Escrow Instructions (Plaintiff ' s Exhibit 1 and 2) which 


become the contract, provide th t the escrow is to close on or before 


July 29, 1977, nd provide in paragraph 6, in ddition to other th~ng 


fOr a right of termination by either party of s id contr ct. 


On Augus 10, 1977 , defendant didc nc 1 d scro"', and 


con ract (Plaintiff's Exhibit 5). Defendant rais ev r 1 ssu 


as to whether or not said contract is enforceable, adequ cy of con­


sideration , delay by plaintiff , hence giving defendant the right to 


terminate and lastly if defendant can rely upon tim of the ssence. 


The contract provides that the escro should close on or before 
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July 29, 1977, and the evidence was that defendant did not return 


her signed copy of the escrow instructions, that is sign the contract, 


until July 22, 1977. At said time plaintiff had paid the deposit 


of $1,000 and the same was held by the escrow holder and the plain­


tiff had caused to be sent to the escrow holder the approval of 


the loan by Glendale Federal. The only thing l eft was for the 


escrow holder to make demand upon plaintiff for the balance of said 


down payment and for plaintiff to comply with same. 


There is no evidence that plaintiff was delaying in complying 


with the terms and conditions of said escrow, but to the contrary 


the evidence is that plaintiff was doing everything possible to 


comply with the terms and conditions of said contract. 


On the other hand, defendant did not inform the escrow 


company or give notice to them as to her agreement to the contract 


until July 22, 1977, and thus it is the finding of the Court that 


said action was either a hindrance or evidence of delay on the part 


of defendant. If the Court interprets said contract to contain the 


provisions that time was of the essence, then the Court would find 


that the defendant, by her conduct in failing to return said signed 


escrow instructions, i.e. contract, until July 22, 1977, would con­


stitute a waiver of her right to enforce the time of essence provision. 


However, on the other hand, the Court finds that said agree­


ment did not contain a time of the essence provision but that the 


interpretation of the contract should be that if plaintiff should be 


given a reasonable time to comply with the terms and conditions of 


the contract and unless said conditions were complied with within a 
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reasonable time after July 22, 1977, defendant would then have the 


2 right to terminate the agreement. 


3 The Court does not feel that between the dates of July 22, 


4" 1977, and August 10, 1977, was a reasonable time, that is the escrow 


5 company did not have a reasonable time to gather all of its important 


6 data, documents and information and to make demands from plaintiff 


7 and for plaintiff to comply with said demands such as the balance 


8 of the down payment. Hence, defendant exercised her right to 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


terminate said agreement before a reasonable time had elapsed. 


The defendant also raises the issue of adequate considera.tion 


and the Court must inquire as to the adequate consideration when 


plaintiff is seeking specific performance as a remedy in such case. 


The evidence submitted at the time of trial was that the plaintiff 


and defendant negotiated the price orally and they orally agreed 


15 upon the amount of $42,250. The evidence further shows that the 


16 defendant had indicated that a house similar to hers in the same 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


neighborhood sold for $43,000 recently. There was also evidence by 


the defendant that the market value at said time was $50,500, but 


the defendant also related that this was based on information received 


at a later date. 


'Ilhe Court finds that the consideration of $42,250 in payment 


22 for the house was an adequate consideration. For the foregoing 


23 reasons, the Court finds that the plaintiff should be entitled to 


24 judgment against said defendant as prayed for. 


25 Dated: 
OCT 1 8 1978 


26 EARL B. GlLUAM 
Judge of the Superior Court 
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